# RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEO4-21-2015

DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### BUSHMAN FARMS, INC.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No: 2014AP002989 Circuit Court Case No: 2013CV000090

DAIRYLAND REAL ESTATE, LLC,

Defendant-Respondent.

# **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TODD P. WOLF, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, BRANCH III, PRESIDING

#### FIRST LAW GROUP S.C.

A limited liability service corporation

Gary L. Dreier, Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant, Bushman Farms, Inc. State Bar No: 1016656

#### MAILING ADDRESS:

2900 Hoover Avenue, Suite A Stevens Point, WI 54481 715-341-7855 715-341-7255-FAX

#

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND HOW THE TRIAL COURT DECIDED THEM

1. Whether Dairyland Real Estate, LLC earned a real estate commission under its Listing Contract with Bushman Farms, Inc. when no successful closing and sale to one of the two persons identified in the Listing Contract took place?

Answered by the Trial Court: Yes.

2. Whether Bushman Farms, Inc. breached its duty of good faith under the Listing Contract by failing to inform Dairyland Real Estate, LLC it was not entitled to payment of a real estate commission because the sale of the real estate was not to one of two persons identified in the Listing Contract?

Answered by the Trial Court: Yes.

#### STATEMENT WHETHER ORAL ARGUMENT IS NECESSARY

Oral argument is not necessary.

#### STATEMENT WHETHER OPINION SHOULD BE PUBLISHED

The opinion to be rendered in this case need not be published.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

The plaintiff-appellant, Bushman Farms, Inc. (herein "Bushman Farms"), brought this action against the defendant-respondent, Dairyland Real Estate, LLC (herein "Dairyland Real Estate") seeking return to Bushman Farms of an \$82,950 real estate commission.

#### PROCEDURAL STATUS OF CASE LEADING UP TO APPEAL

Bushman Farms commenced this civil action on February 19, 2013, before the Wood County Circuit Court seeking judgment against Dairyland Real Estate in the sum of \$82,950 plus interest at the legal rate. Such \$82,950 constituted the amount of real estate commission paid Dairyland Real Estate. The Complaint is entry number number 2 of the Record on Appeal (herein "R.2"). This matter was tried to the court without a jury on September 23, 2014, at the conclusion of which the Honorable Todd P. Wolf, Circuit Court Judge, dismissed the Bushman Farms Complaint. R.36, p. 16. The Order & Judgment dismissing the Bushman Farms Complaint was rendered and entered on October 6, 2014. R.26. Such Order & Judgment is also found in the Appendix to this Brief at pp. 101-102 (herein "App. pp. 101-102"). The trial court's oral ruling from the bench on September 23, 2014, at the conclusion of evidentiary portion of the trial is found at R.36 and App. 103-119.

Bushman Farms moved for reconsideration. R.29; App. 120-123. On November 18, 2014, the court heard and denied Bushman Farms' motion for reconsideration. The transcript of the court's ruling on Bushman Farms' motion for reconsideration is found at R.38; App. 125-134. The Order denying Bushman Farms' motion for reconsideration is found at R.32; App. 124.

Bushman Farms instituted this appeal by filing its Notice of Appeal dated December 23, 2014.

#### **DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT**

After this case was trial to the court without a jury on September 23, 2014, the Honorable Todd Wolf, Circuit Court Judge, presiding, made an oral decision from the bench. R.36; App. 103-119. The trial court found Dairyland Real Estate had participated in formulating the Farm Listing Contract, which were trial exhibits 1, 2 and 3. R. 36, p.4-5 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 1, 2 and 3. The court recited with regard to the Listing Contract:

"It is understood that commission will only be paid upon successful closing and full payment if property is sold to the buyer, and then in brackets, or buyers listed in addendum B. This agreement is an amendment and supersedes any other agreement we have signed in relationship to this transaction..." R.36, p.5, l. 4-10.

The buyer at the closing was Greenwood Acres, LLC. R.36, p. 10, 1.21-25. The

buyer was changed to Greenwood Acres, LLC at the request of Attorney Gill who

represented the buyer. R.36, p. 12. l. 20-p. 13, l. 6. Even though the change of the

buyer to Greenwood Acres, LLC was done at the request of the buyer, not by

Bushman Farms, the court found there was a good faith breach by Bushman Farms

when the buyer became Greenwood Acres, LLC:

So I would—at this point in time I find that there—with that implied duty of good faith, that with understanding that everything at that point in time was either in Westers' hand or the Bushman Farms, Inc.'s hand as far as now how that ultimate purchase was going to take place and who was going to be the ultimate buyer on that, that if the argument is and which it is now that the Court should strictly conform itself to the contract that was reached, I would find that then there is a good faith breach on behalf of Bushman Farms, Inc. here in the sense that now the buyer becomes Greenwood Acres, LLC, which in essence was formulated through the advice of Mr. Weyert's (sic) attorney here simply to put it in that really for tax purposes, that the breach on that and **any duties were owed were actually Bushman Farms, Inc.'s duties toward Dairyland to make them aware now that they were going to ask that they be excluded now with their commission with the fact that now I almost want to say eve of closing because it sounds like it was pretty close when that decision was being made. R.36, p. 13, 1.16-p.14, 1.10. (emphasis added)** 

The trial court went in to analogize:

...to rule otherwise would simply allow actually anyone to list a buyer such as to list myself as a buyer and then ultimately have my wife buy the property and turn around and say now you - - she wasn't listed as a listed buyer, and therefore, no commission should be paid. I think to do so would run amuck of the case I just cited here, the Court of Appeals decision regarding the inherent good faith and infuses every contract and the 3044 instruction that I normally give even to a jury here regarding what the expectations were." R. 36, p. 15, l. 6-15.

The court indicated Bushman Farms violated a duty of good faith by not

disclosing the change of the buyer which was requested by the buyer. R. 36, p.15.

In denying Bushman Farms' motion for reconsideration the trial court

recited that if the Listing Contract were read strictly, then Bushman Farms would

be correct. R.38, p. 5, l. 8-12. But in affirming the dismissal of the Bushman

Farms Complaint, the trial court relied upon the trial court's interpretation of the

applicability of good faith to this situation. R.38, p. 5, 1.12-14; p.6, l. 12-14. The

trial court also commented:

Now, whether I point blank said that Bushman is the one that violated or breached any sort of duty as far as good faith is concerned, I would have thought It tried to avoid that type of comment because I'm not—I don't think I was necessarily saying that Bushman Farms itself was doing anything underhandedly or anything that was in violation of good faith. R. 38, p. 5, 1.15-21.

In denying the motion for reconsideration the trial Court made a finding that the Listing Contract provided Dairyland Real Estate would be paid a commission only upon successful closing of the property to one of two purchasers, that Dairyland Real Estate did not hire legal counsel before the closing, that Dairyland Real Estate took a commission check in the sum of \$82,950 and that it since has refused to return such sum to Bushman Farms. R.38, p. 8, 1. 3-9 and R.26, pp. 1-2.

The trial court ruled Bushman Farms' claim against Dairyland Real Estate

should not succeed because of the applicability of the principle of good faith. R.38, p. 7, l. 18-23.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The following facts were established at the September 23, 2014, trial. The Bushman Farms real estate subject to the Listing Contract consisted of 1181 acres. R.37, p. 8 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 1. Trial Exhibits 2 and 3, the addenda to the Listing Contract were signed after the Listing Contract had been signed. R.37, pp. 10-12 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 2 and 3. The Amendment to Listing Contract (Tr. Ex. 3) provided a commission would be paid only if the real estate were sold to one of the two parties identified on Addendum B (R. 25, Tr. Ex. 3); those two persons were Goedhart Westers, who was William Baker's client, and Jerry Gordon, who was Joseph Bradley's client. R.37, pp. 12-13. The Listing Contract recited "Bill has one buyer, Joe Bradley has one buyer." R. 25, Tr. Ex. 1, l. 273-274. The wording found on lines 277-280 of the Listing Contract was a combination of and a result of everyone's input who attended a meeting at the Bushman home; William Baker testified at deposition that Joseph Bradley's wording was found in lines 277-280. R. 37, pp. 26-27.

William Baker was working for Dairyland Real Estate as a real estate salesperson during the Bushman Farms transaction. R. 25, Tr. Ex. 8 and 13.

A Farm Offer to Purchase for \$4,147,500 was executed by Bushman Farms and by Goedhart Westers. R. 37, pp. 13-14; R.25, Tr. Ex. 4. William Baker assumed that, after February 6, 2012, the transaction was in the hands of the attorneys. R.37, p. 44.

The closing took place on March 19, 2012. R.25, Tr. Ex. 16 (Seller's Closing Statement). William Baker, who attended the closing on behalf of Dairyland Real Estate, does not know if anyone on behalf of Dairyland Real Estate even looked at the closing statement or the warranty deed before William Baker took the commission check. R.37, pp. 18-19. At the time of the closing, William Baker did not know whether the sale had been to Goedhart Westers, even though he left the closing with the \$82,950 commission check. R.37, p. 28. William Baker turned the commission check for \$82,950 over to Dairyland Real Estate; Dairyland Real Estate then cut William Baker a check for \$58,000, but shortly after the closing, William Baker discovered that his license was not valid and Dairyland Real Estate cancelled payment of the \$58,000 check it had made out to and delivered to William Baker. R. 37, p. 19. Although Dairyland Real Estate had issued a check to William Baker shortly after the closing for an amount in excess of \$58,000, Dairyland Real Estate kept that money because William Baker was not licensed as a real estate agent at that time. R.37, pp. 52-53.

Joseph Bradley, the owner of Dairyland Real Estate, had been in the real estate business for 12 years as of the trial. R. 37, p. 65. He admitted the real estate commission was payable only if the subject real estate were sold to one of the two buyers identified on Addendum B, who were Goedhart Westers and Jerry Gordon. R.37, pp. 48-50 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 3. The Listing Contract (R.25, Tr. Ex. 1) read at lines 277-279:

It is understood that commission will only be paid upon successful closing and full payment if property is sold to the buyer[s] listed in Addendum B. This agreement is an amendment and supersedes any other agreement we have signed in relation to this transaction.

At the time of the Bushman transaction, there was an agreement with William Baker that William Baker would receive 70 percent of the commission as to sales Mr. Baker was associated with. R. 37, p. 47. Joseph Bradley did not bother to attend the closing and did not see the Warranty Deed, which named Greenwood Acres, LLC as buyer, before the closing. R.37, pp. 50-51 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 17. Joseph Bradley had requested as of February 6, 2012, that all communications be channeled through Dairyland Real Estate's and Bushman Farms' respective attorneys. R. 37, pp. 56-58 and R.25, Tr. Ex. 6. Joseph Bradley, however, did not make himself aware of the attorney for the seller and testified he thought his local attorney would become involved. R.37, pp. 59-60. Joseph Bradley never actually hired an attorney on behalf of Dairyland Real Estate with regard to this transaction. R.37, pp. 74-75.

Shortly after the Listing Contract was signed, Jean Bushman on behalf of Bushman Farms, contacted three surveyors to obtain a prompt survey and the best price for surveying because the deadline for performance of a survey under the contract expired around February 20, 2012. R.37, pp. 80-81. William Baker of Dairyland Real Estate had communicated with one of the surveyors, Badgerland,

7

but he had not given Badgerland complete information and had obtained an incorrect estimate of the cost of such survey. R.37, pp. 81-83. William Baker had been informed surveyors were not to come onto the property on the date of a Bushman Farms corporate meeting, but William Baker, nevertheless, on the date of such corporate meeting brought a surveyor onto the property. R. 37, pp. 85-86. To Jean Bushman's knowledge, she was not asked to sign an amendment to the Listing Contract which added Greenwood Acres, LLC as a permissible buyer. R.37, p. 109.

Attorney Michael Salm represented Bushman Farms. R.37, pp. 123-124. Neither he nor Bushman Farms knew the actual owners of Greenwood Acres, LLC, the party to which the real estate was sold. R.37, pp. 123-125. Michael Salm, the attorney representing Bushman Farms, played no part in drafting the Listing Contract or any amendment to it. R.37, p. 126. The buyer of the Bushman Farms real estate was not Goedhart Westers but rather was a limited liability company; it was not Michael Salm's idea to change the buyer from Goedhart Westers to a limited liability company. R.37, p. 131.

Alan Bushman, the president of Bushman Farms, had never done business with a broker before doing business with Dairyland Real Estate. R. 37, p. 134. When William Baker and Joseph Bradley came to his house, they informed him they had two possible buyers and he signed the subject Listing Contract on behalf of Bushman Farms. R.37, pp. 134-135. Alan Bushman had never studied real estate law or general law and was not informed before the commission check was

8

issued that the buyer had been changed. R.37, p. 137. He did not request that the buyer's name be changed from Goedhart Westers to a limited liability company. R.37, p. 138.

Persons other than Goedhart Westers and Jerry Gordon had previously expressed to Alan Bushman an interest in buying the Bushman Farms real estate. R.37, pp. 138-139.

Alan Bushman was never contacted by Attorney Gill who represented Goedhart Westers. R.37, p. 147. Alan Bushman objected to payment of the commission in June, 2012; the attorney representing Alan Bushman was not present at the signing (closing). R.37, pp. 152-153.

Dennis Bushman, secretary of Bushman Farms, Inc. had not used a real estate broker before the subject transaction. R. 37, p. 161. Dennis Bushman had spoken with William Baker about purchase of wooded land but he never got a response from Mr. Baker about the wooded property; as a result, Dennis Bushman brought Tr. Ex. 18 to the closing. R.37, pp. 161-163; R. 25, Tr. Ex. 18. The buyer on the closing statement was identified as Greenwood Acres, LLC. R.37, p. 175; R.25, Tr. Ex. 16.

Attorney Patrick Gill represented Goedhart Westers, but not Bushman Farms; Attorney Gill suggested that the grantee in the deed from Bushman Farms should be Greenwood Acres, LLC – it was his idea. R.37, pp. 177, 182; and R. 25, Tr. Ex. 19 (transcript of the deposition of Patrick Gill), p.10, l. 13-18.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether the trial court committed error in concluding Dairyland Real Estate had earned a real estate commission under the Listing Contract presents a question of law. *Rasmussen v. Blue Cross Blue Shield United of Wis., Inc.*, 2000 WI App. 220, ¶ 5, 239 Wis. 2d 120, 123, 619 N.W.2d 147. "The interpretation of an unambiguous contract presents a question of law for this court's independent review." *Town Bank v. City Real Estate Dev., LLC.*, 2010 WI 134, ¶ 32, 330 Wis. 2d 340, 793 NW.2d 476.

Since the relevant facts are basically undisputed, a review of the application of the breach of duty of good faith defense presents is a question of law which is reviewed *de novo*. *GMAC Mortgage Corp. v. Gisvold*, 215 Wis. 2d 459, 470, 572 N.W. 2d 466 (1998).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Listing Contract (R.25, Tr. Ex. 1, 2 and 3) provided the real estate commission would be paid only upon successful closing and sale of the property to Goedhart Westers or to Jerry Gordon. At the request of the buyer, not Bushman Farms, the real estate was sold to Greenwood Acres, LLC. Under the Listing Contract, as drafted by Dairyland Real Estate, Dairyland Real Estate was not entitled to pay itself a real estate commission. Dairyland Real Estate, which owed a fiduciary duty to Bushman Farms, breached such duty by not disclosing to Bushman Farms that Dairyland Real Estate was not entitled to the \$82,950 real estate commission and by taking and keeping the commission check.

The failure of Bushman Farms to inform Dairyland Real Estate that it was not entitled to a real estate commission under the Listing Contract did not constitute a breach of Bushman Farms' duty of good faith. The judgment of the trial court which dismissed the Bushman Farms Complaint should be reversed and judgment should be granted Bushman Farms for return to it of the \$82,950 real estate commission.

# I. SINCE THERE WAS NO SUCCESSFUL CLOSING TO ONE OF THE TWO PERSONS IDENTIFIED IN THE LISTING CONTRACT, THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN CONCLUDING A REAL ESTATE COMMISSION WAS PAYABLE

Unlike most listing contracts which require only finding a buyer who is ready, willing and able, the Farm Listing Contract between Dairyland and Bushman Farms included two specially drafted WB-42 Amendments which provided a real estate commission was payable only if there were a successful closing and sale to Goedhart Westers or to Jerry Gordon. R. 25, Tr. Ex. 1, 1. 277-280, Tr. Ex. 3. The Farm Listing Contract contained typed provisions at lines 277-280, which read:

"In the absence of the right form [sic] for a [1]-party listing; **It [sic] is understood that** commission will only be paid upon successful closing and full payment if property is sold to the buyer[s] listed in addendum B. This agreement is an amendment and supersedes any other agreement we have signed in relation to this transaction." (emphasis added). R. 25, Tr. Ex. 1.

The Second Amendment to Listing Contract dated January 4, 2012, states at line 11, "The is [sic] Addendum "B" and lists the buyers as including "1. Goedhart Westers 2. Jerry Gordon". R. 25, Tr. Ex. 3. Wis. Adm. Code REEB 24.08 reads in part: "A licensee **shall put in writing all listing contracts**...and any other commitments regarding transactions, **expressing the exact agreement of the parties**..." (emphasis added). The exact agreement of the parties was that a commission was to be paid only upon successful closing and sale to Goedhart Westers or to Jerry Gordon. Such never took place.

"...[T]he cornerstone of contract construction is to ascertain the true intentions of the parties as expressed by the contractual language... the purpose of judicial construction is to determine what the parties contracted to do as evidenced by the language they saw fit to use." *Journal/Sentinel, Inc. v. Pleva*, 155 Wis. 2d 704, 710-711, 456 N.W. 2d 359 (1990). See also *Levy v. Levy*, 130 Wis. 2d 523, 535, 388 N.W. 2d 170 (1986) and *Town Bank v. City Real Estate Dev., LLC*, 2010 WI 134, ¶33, 330 Wis. 2d 340, 356, 793 N.W. 2d 476. Dairyland Real Estate contracted that a commission was to be paid only upon successful closing to one of two specifically identified persons.

In *Libowitz v. Lake Nursing Home, Inc.*, 35 Wis. 2d 74, 150 N.W.2d 439 (1967), the court quoted with approval the following excerpt from the *American Jurisprudence*:

Libowitz, supra, 35 Wis. 2d at 80.

The listing contract should not have been judicially reformed to say

<sup>&</sup>quot;"To entitle a broker to his commissions, he must accomplish what he undertook to do in his contract of employment for, as a rule, nothing short of that is sufficient to constitute a performance upon his part...12 Am. Jur. (2d), Brokers, pp. 921, 922, sec. 182.""

something other than what it does to bestow upon Dairyland Real Estate a

commission simply because the real estate was sold to someone:

Pabst also fails to save its case with general principles of contract construction. " 'The language of a contract must be understood to mean what it clearly expresses.' " *Hortman v. Otis Erecting Co., Inc.,* 108 Wis.2d 456, 322 N.W.2d 482, 484 (App.1982) (quoting *Dykstra v. Arthur G. McKee & Co.,* 92 Wis.2d 17, 284 N.W.2d 692, 702–703 (App.1979), affirmed, 100 Wis.2d 120, 301 N.W.2d 201 (1981)). The time-honored axiom applies here that if parties are allowed to convince courts to reform plainly worded contracts, "contracts would not be worth the paper on which they are written." *Upton v. Tribilcock,* 91 U.S. (1 Otto) 45, 50, 23 L.Ed. 203 (1875); accord, *Zweck v. D P Way Corp.,* 70 Wis.2d 426, 234 N.W.2d 921, 926 (1975). As terse as it was, and as unfavorable to Pabst as ensuing events proved it to be, the Pabst–Pincus agreement was not susceptible to more than one construction.

Pincus v. Pabst Brewing Co., 893 F. 2d 1544, 1552 (7th Cir. 1990).

As terse as it was and as unfavorable to Dairyland Real Estate as ensuing events proved it to be, the fundamental requirement to make commission payable under the Listing Contract, i.e. that there had been a successful closing and sale to Goedhart Westers or to Jerry Gordon, had not been met. Dairyland Real Estate nevertheless paid itself a commission without informing its principal, Bushman Farms, that it should not have walked away from the closing with a commission check.

#### II. DAIRYLAND REAL ESTATE OWED A FIDUCIARY DUTY TO BUSHMAN FARMS

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