## **RECEIVED**

05-19-2015

#### **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** STATE OF WISCONSIN **OF WISCONSIN**

## COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT IV**

BUSHMAN FARMS, INC.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Appeal No.2014AP002989 v.

DAIRYLAND REAL ESTATE, LLC,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order and Judgment entered in Wood County Circuit Court, Case No. 2013CV000090, the Honorable Todd P. Wolf, presiding

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT, DAIRYLAND REAL ESTATE, LLC

BRAZEAU, LA CHAPELLE, KRYSHAK & NETTESHEIM, LLP

J.P. LA CHAPELLE State Bar No. 1068933

Attorneys for Dairyland Real Estate, LLC 262 West Grand Ave. Wisconsin Rapids, WI 54495 Telephone: (715) 423-1400

####

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The doctrine of good faith and fair dealing bars Bushman's claim that Dairyland should now return the commission it earned on the sale of Bushman's farm.

Every contract carries an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the performance of its terms. *Save Elkhart Lake v. Village of Elkhart Lake*, 181 Wis. 2d 778, 787, 512 N.W.2d 202 (Ct. App. 1993). The contract at issue in this case is the Listing Contract entered into between Dairyland and Bushman, for the marketing and sale of Bushman's farm. In most basic terms, Dairyland was entitled to a commission if the farm was sold to one of two named prospective buyers, whose names were disclosed by Dairyland, to Bushman. One of those prospective buyers was Goedhart Westers. Goedhart Westers is the same individual who would later form Greenwood Acres, LLC, the named entity that took title to the Bushman farm at closing.

During the entire term of the Listing Contract, Bushman made no objection to the fact that Dairyland would receive a commission on the sale; even after Bushman knew the ultimate buyer was Greenwood Acres, LLC. In fact, Dennis Bushman, one of the principals of Bushman Farms, Inc., stated under oath that he had no issue with paying the commission to Dairyland because he felt the company [Bushman Farms, Inc.] owed it. (R.18, Ex. E – Dennis Bushman Dep. 44:1-20.) Even David Bushman, who was adamantly opposed to selling the farm, raising numerous objections

with the other principals of Bushman Farms, Inc. while the sale was pending, did not cite any objection to paying a commission. (R.18, Ex. E - David Bushman Dep. 38:21-25, 39:1-10.)

It was not until after the closing (when Bushman discovered that one of the agents of Dairyland did not have a valid real estate license during the term of the Listing Contract) that Bushman thought the commission should be returned, and proceeded to sue Dairyland. (R.18, Ex. E – Dennis Bushman Dep. 44:21-25.) This is the point in time where Bushman breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing it owed to Dairyland. Bushman, in its arguments, fails to acknowledge this important fact – Bushman's breach took place *after* closing, when Bushman sued Dairyland for a return of the commission, on a pure technicality. (Bushman's App. 130:20-25; 131:1.)

٠

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bushman's complaint demands the return of a commission which it voluntarily paid, on two separate theories: (1) Nonperformance by Dairyland because the ultimate sale was to Goedhart Westers' limited liability company (as opposed to Goedhart Westers, individually); and (2) one of the agents of Dairyland did not have a valid realtor's license during the term of the Listing Agreement. As to the second argument, *Schlueter v. Latek*, 821 F. Supp. 2d 1079 (E.D. Wis. 2011), directly interprets Wis. Stat. § 452.20 Limitation on actions for commissions. *Schlueter* holds that Chapter 452 of Wisconsin Statutes provides no cause of action for the return of a commission voluntarily paid. Thus, Bushman has not pursued its second theory of recovery on appeal.

Bushman's pursuit of a return of the commission because the farm was ultimately sold to Goedhart Westers' limited liability company, as opposed to Goedhart Westers, individually, constitutes a breach of good faith and fair dealing on Bushman's part. Conduct that may not constitute a breach when the contract is read literally may still violate the duty of good faith – the key inquiry is whether a party truly sought to accomplish the agreement's objectives. *Foseid v. State Bank of Cross Plains*, 197 Wis. 2d 772, 796-797, 541 N.W.2d 203 (Ct. App. 1995).

Again, the parties' agreement was quite simple: Dairyland would provide Bushman with the names of two interested buyers and in return, Bushman would pay Dairyland a commission in the event either of those two buyers purchased Bushman's farm. The parties memorialized their agreement in writing with the Listing Contract. The objective of the agreement was to get Bushman's farm sold, for an amount acceptable to Bushman, with Dairyland receiving a commission. Dairyland not only provided the names, but a written offer to purchase was procured from one of those buyers, Goedhart Westers, as a result of Dairyland's efforts.

The objective was met when the transaction closed less than two months later, and Bushman netted \$3.3 million (as shown on seller's closing statement). This was after Bushman had been trying to sell its farm for the past five or six years, maybe more, with no success. (R.18, Ex. E – Alan Bushman Dep. 6:7-9.)

If a party exacts another's promise to perform an act, the law implies a counter-promise against arbitrary or unreasonable conduct by the party exacting the promise. *Ekstrom v. State*, 45 Wis. 2d 218, 222, 172 N.W.2d 660 (1969). Bushman and Dairyland had a deal. Dairyland upheld its end of the deal, and was instrumental in finally getting the Bushman farm sold. Now Bushman does not want to pay the commission. Why? Because the name of the grantee on the deed, the deed signed by Goedhart Westers, is "Greenwood Acres, LLC," as opposed to "Goedhart Westers," individually. Arbitrary? Yes. Unreasonable? Yes... "absurd" is another word that comes to mind. Bushman's argument on why the commission should be forfeited by Dairyland is a prime example of when a court should look at substance over form.

If the purpose of contract law is to enforce the reasonable expectations of parties induced by promises, then at some point it becomes necessary for courts to look to the substance rather than to the form of the agreement, and to hold that substance controls over form. What courts are doing here, whether calling the process "implication" of promises, or interpreting the requirements of "good faith," as the current fashion may be, is but a recognition that the parties occasionally have understandings or expectations that were so fundamental that they did not need to negotiate about those expectations. When the court "implies a promise" or holds that "good faith" requires a party not to violate those expectations, it is recognizing that sometimes silence says more than words, and it is understanding its duty to the spirit of the bargain is higher than its duty to the technicalities of the language.

Arthur Linton Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 570 (West Supp. 1993).

We have reached the point which Corbin describes above – substance here should control over form, and Dairyland should be entitled to keep its commission. The law supports Dairyland's position. Acting with good faith includes refraining from taking unfair advantage of another through technicalities of law or failure to provide information or give notice. *Peddie v. Sterling Jewelers, Inc.*, 282 F. Supp. 2d 947, 953-954 (E.D. Wis. 2003). By suing Dairyland, demanding the commission be returned because Goedhart Westers' limited liability company, as opposed to Goedhart Westers, individually, was the ultimate purchaser, Bushman has breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing. Imagine the precedent that would be set to hold otherwise.

Bushman wants to retain the benefit of the bargain it made with Dairyland, yet deny Dairyland a commission. A breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing exists if one party denies another party the benefit of an agreed-upon bargain. *Zenith Ins. Co. v. Employer Ins.*, 141 F.3d 300, 308 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998). Bushman's actions seek to deny Dairyland the benefit of the agreed-upon bargain, the commission. Bushman's actions constitute a breach of good faith and fair dealing.

Bushman's demand for a return of the commission is all the more unreasonable because Bushman itself agreed that Goedhart Westers could assign the offer to purchase to his limited liability company. Actions taken to frustrate the purpose of an agreement may constitute a breach of good faith. Foseid v. State Bank of Cross Plains, 197 Wis. 2d at 796-797. After taking the signed offer from Bushman and presenting it to Goedhart Westers, Dairyland was essentially left out from any further communications from the parties. Instead, Bushman conducted all further negotiations through its corporate attorney, who in turn communicated with Goedhart Westers' attorney. Bushman, in its appellate brief, spends a considerable amount of time attempting to make a big deal out of this fact. But what happened is not all that unusual – the realtor found the buyer and

facilitated the transaction. The attorneys took over from there, and hammered out the details. (Bushman's App. 110: 4-7; App. 114-115.)

Bushman remained very involved in the negotiations with the buyer, through Bushman's corporate counsel. And it was Bushman, through its attorney, who agreed to allow Goedhart Westers to assign the offer to purchase to a limited liability company. Not only did Bushman consent to the assignment, but their attorney drafted a sophisticated form of consent, whereby Goedhart Westers remained personally obligated under the offer to purchase, if his limited liability company failed to consummate the transaction. These factual findings were properly made by the trial court. (Bushman's App. 110: 8-22.)

As to the closing documents showing Goedhart Westers' limited liability company as the purchaser, Bushman had legal counsel both preparing and reviewing those documents; Bushman's had even more time than usual to review the documents; and the court found that, contrary to Bushman's assertions, Bushman actually did review the closing documents. Again, the trial court duly noted these facts in its findings. (Bushman's App. 111-112.)

As to any allegations of Dairyland's lack of involvement surrounding the closing, it was Dairyland that was *prohibited* from entering the rooms where the closing took place. The parties knew Dairyland was present to retrieve the commission check, which it did, immediately after the transaction closed – no objections were raised. Again, these were the findings of the trial court. (Bushman's App. 111:4-10.)

The duty of good faith includes an obligation not to hinder performance. *Metropolitan Ventures, LLC v. GEA Associates*, 2006 WI 71, ¶ 35, 291 Wis. 2d 393, 717 N.W.2d 58. While nothing prohibited Bushman from consenting to an assignment of the offer to purchase to a limited liability company (nor should anything prohibit such an assignment), Bushman cannot now use that consent which Bushman voluntarily granted as a tool to bar Dairyland a commission, through arguing nonperformance under the Listing Contract. To permit Bushman to do so would allow Bushman to unilaterally hinder Dairyland's ability to perform the contract, and for what reason?

Bushman failed to submit any evidence as to why it would even matter if Goedhart Westers assigned his right to purchase the Bushman farm to his limited liability company. And nothing would prohibit Goedhart Westers, or his LLC, from selling to *any* third party after the closing. Above all, Bushman has failed to show how it was harmed in any way by the assignment, the same assignment to which it consented. Had Bushman wanted to place further restrictions on a sale, or resale of the farm (i.e. retain a right of first refusal for itself), or reserve wood rights, etc., it could have negotiated those terms through its attorney. Remember, the actual offer which is the subject of this transaction and signed by all parties was prepared by the attorneys, not by Dairyland.

# II. Bushman has waived any right to demand the commission be returned.

Even if the trial court had found that Dairyland failed to technically perform under the Listing Contract (a finding the trial court did not make), the fact that Bushman did not object to payment of a commission until quite some time after the closing, constitutes a waiver on Bushman's part to raise any such objection now.

Waiver is a voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right. *Christensen v. Equity Coop. Livestock Sale Ass'n*, 134 Wis. 2d 300, 303, 396 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1986). Waiver may be established by conduct, or by express statements. *Id.* Waiver may be established by a

party's acquiescence in the other party's failure to strictly perform. Wis. JI – Civil 3058 (1993).

Based on the facts of this case, it is next to impossible for Bushman to claim that it did not acquiesce in the sale to Greenwood Acres, LLC, and in the voluntary payment of a commission to Dairyland based upon said sale. Bushman has waived any right it may have had to demand a return of the commission it voluntarily paid to Dairyland, nearly one year prior to Bushman's filing of its lawsuit. *See C.G. Schmidt, Inc. v. Tiedke,* 181 Wis. 2d 316, 321, 510 N.W.2d 756 (Ct. App. 1993) (a party to a contract may waive a contract condition that is for that party's benefit).

# III. Bushman's demand for the return of the commission is barred by the doctrine of laches.

Again, assuming, arguendo, that Dairyland failed to technically perform under the Listing Contract, Bushman's demand for the return of the commission is barred by the doctrine of laches. "The elements of the equitable doctrine of laches are: (1) unreasonable delay; (2) knowledge of and acquiescence in the course of events; and (3) prejudice to the party asserting laches. *In re the Estate of Flejter*, 2001 WI App 26, ¶41, 240 Wis. 2d 401, 623 N.W.2d 552.

Applying the facts of this case to the above rule, Bushman was fully aware, and agreed, that Greenwood Acres, LLC would be the purchaser of the Bushman farm. Bushman acknowledged and acquiesced in the commission being paid to Dairyland at the closing. It took over seven months after payment of the commission for Bushman to raise the objection it now makes, namely that the ultimate buyer was not Goedhart Westers. As the commission was voluntarily paid, Dairyland had no reason to expect that Bushman would object after the fact. To now require Dairyland to return over \$80,000 in commissions certainly would be prejudicial, as that money has long since been expended in the operations of the business.

# IV. The trial court's interpretation that Dairyland is entitled to a commission under the terms of the Listing Contract is fair and reasonable.

In construing a contract, the court must adopt the construction that will result in a reasonable, fair and just contract as opposed to one that is unusual or extraordinary, or produces unfair results. *Columbia Propane*, *L.P. v. Wisconsin Gas Co.*, 2003 WI 38, ¶25, 261 Wis. 2d 70, 92, 661 N.W.2d 776. A court will construe a contract "[so] far as reasonably practicable...[to] make it a rational business instrument." *Borchardt v. Wilk*, 156 Wis. 2d 420, 427, 456 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1990); *see also* 

Superl Sequoia Ltd. v. Carlson Co., 615 F.3d 831, 836 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010) ("[j]udges endeavor to read contracts to make economic sense.").

The trial court's finding that Dairyland is entitled to keep the commission it earned is not only fair and reasonable, it makes economic sense. Bushman seeks to renege on the agreement it made with Dairyland, yet retain the benefit of the bargain, namely, the \$3.3 million it netted from the sale. Again, Bushman had been trying to sell its farm for over the past five years – but for Dairyland's efforts, the sale to which Bushman not only agreed, but negotiated the terms, would not have occurred. Had Dairyland known that Bushman would object to paying a commission if Goedhart Westers were to, after signing a binding contract to purchase, assign that contract to his limited liability company, Dairyland would not have provided his name to Bushman in the first place. To deny Dairyland a commission on these grounds produces an unfair result.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Apparently the \$3.3 million Bushman farms received on the sale of its farm was not enough – Bushman also wants Dairyland to provide its services free of charge.

For the reasons stated above, the trial court's dismissal of this case

should be upheld. Dairyland rightfully earned its commission on the sale of

Bushman's farm, and Dairyland is entitled to keep that commission. Any

efforts by Bushman to deny Dairyland a commission smacks of bad faith.